IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RAYMOND DELUCCHI and
TOMMY HOLLIS,

Appellants,

v.

PAT SONGER,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Aug 09 2016 09:37 a.m.
Case No. 68994 Tracie K. Lindeman
District Court: CV3989 Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 002003
ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 004673
610 South Ninth Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorneys for Appellants

1 **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO NRAP 26.1**

2 The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons
3 and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a) and must be disclosed. These

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

1 **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

2 The underlying facts giving rise to this case, as established by the arbitral
3 record, and as found by neutral arbitrator Catherine Harris, Esq., are as follows:

4 Firefighter/Paramedic Raymond Delucchi and Firefighter/EMT Tommy
5 Hollis were employed by the Town of Pahrump through its Pahrump Valley Fire
6 & Rescue Services (“PVFRS”). (APP Vol. II at 251, 254-255). At approximately
7 1:00 AM on May 25, 2012 Delucchi and Hollis, were traveling back from Las
8 Vegas to Pahrump in an ambulance (Medic 3) when almost run off the road by
9 another vehicle on an isolated and dark stretch of Highway 160. (APP Vol. I at
10 278-279; Vol. II at 302-303). Delucchi made the decision to pull the ambulance
11 over to the side of the road and turned on the emergency lights. The other vehicle
12 pulled in behind Medic 3, and the driver exited his vehicle and ran up to the
13 window of Medic 3. (APP Vol. II at 303). The area was dark, rural, and in a radio
14 dead zone. (APP Vol. II at 303).

15 Delucchi informed the driver from a crack in the window to step away from
16 the ambulance. The driver was yelling and screaming and using profanities.
17 Delucchi thought he heard the word “miscarriage”. (APP Vol. II at 304).

18 Firefighters/Paramedic/Emergency Medical Technicians are instructed that
19 scene safety as their first priority. (APP Vol. II at 385-386).

20 ///

1 Once the driver had sufficiently moved away from Medic 3, Delucchi and
2 Hollis cautiously exited the vehicle. Because ambulances do carry narcotics and
3 are subject to robbery, Delucchi and Hollis were on a heightened state of alert.
4 (APP Vol. II at 306).

5 The other vehicle was still running. After Delucchi and Hollis exited Medic
6 3, the driver ran back to his vehicle and got back in the driver's seat. This caused
7 Delucchi and Hollis' unease to increase because if the intent of the driver was to
8 solicit their assistance with the passenger, they would have expected the driver to
9 open the passenger door to give them access. (APP Vol. II at 437-439).

10 Delucchi and Hollis stayed five (5) to ten (10) feet back from the other
11 vehicle. They shouted across the distance through the open window on the
12 passenger side of the vehicle attempting to get the driver to calm down. (APP Vol.
13 II at 306-307). They shouted that they would be willing to transport the occupants
14 of the vehicle to Desert View Hospital in Pahrump, Nevada. The driver yelled
15 "Fuck Desert View", dropped his vehicle into gear, and sped off. (APP Vol. II at
16 307-312). The entire encounter lasted approximately 60 seconds. (APP Vol. II at
17 371).

18 On May 30, 2012 PVFRS Chief Scott Lewis was informed that the Town
19 had received a telephonic complaint regarding the incident on Highway 160. Chief
20 Lewis returned the phone call and spoke with the occupants of the vehicle,

1 Brittnie Choyce and James Choyce. The Choyces claimed that Brittnie was having
2 a miscarriage of a stillborn child but the paramedics would not assist her except
3 for offering to drive them to a hospital in Pahrump. (APP Vol. II at 255-256).

4 Delucchi was the President of IAFF Local 4068 (“the Union”) and had
5 clashed with Chief Lewis and the Town on a number of issues. (APP Vol. II at
6 301-302, 330-333). Following an initial interview of Delucchi by the HR Director
7 and the Town Manager, Delucchi filed a complaint against Chief Lewis. The
8 Chief, in turn filed his own complaint against Delucchi. (APP Vol. II at 340-342).

9 Because of the complaints between Chief Lewis and President Delucchi, the
10 Town of Pahrump decided that the investigation into the allegations of the
11 Choyces would be handled by an outside third-party. On June 20, 2012 the Town
12 of Pahrump hired Pat Songer to conduct the investigation. (APP Vol. II at 264-
13 265). Songer was supervised by outside counsel Rebecca Bruch of Erickson,
14 Thorpe & Swainson (hereafter “ETS”). (APP Vol. I at 214, 216). Bruch assisted
15 Songer in writing by suggesting several changes. (APP Vol. I at 218-226).¹

16 Songer submitted his report to the Town through Rebecca Bruch. (APP Vol.
17 I at 228-241). The Report contained multiple false statements. The Report begins
18 on page 1 with the section entitled “Points of Interview with Complainants” which
19

20 ¹ Defendant ETS is not a party to this appeal under a settlement reached as a result
of the NRAP 16 settlement conference.

1 purported to summarize an interview with James and Brittnie Choyce. However,
2 Songer did not conduct any such interview. In fact, he never attempted to
3 interview the Choyces. (APP Vol. I at 229).

4 Likewise, in his section entitled “Conclusions From Pahrump Valley Fire-
5 Rescue Services Investigation” Songer wrote “Brittney’s (sic) statements recorded
6 by Lieutenant Moody, and witnessed by Chief Lewis, have a more believable and
7 plausible pattern to it.” However, there were no recorded statements of Brittnie
8 Choyce. Both she and her husband refused to give any recorded statements or
9 even so much as a written complaint. (APP Vol. I at 114-115). Similarly, Songer
10 never even attempted to interview the Choyces as they would not cooperate. (APP
11 Vol. I at 116-117).

12 Songer’s Report accused Delucchi and Hollis of a “cover-up”. (APP Vol. I
13 at 233, 235). The Report alleged that Delucchi and Hollis did not want to take
14 Brittnie Choyce to Summerlin Hospital in Las Vegas “but instead to Desert View
15 Regional Medical Center” for Delucchi and Hollis’ “personal convenience”. (APP
16 Vol. I at 233, 235).

17 The Report recommended the termination of Delucchi for violating multiple
18 Town of Pahrump and PVFRS policies and rules including “Intimidation”,
19 “Willful and flagrant disregard for reporting and documenting”, and “Refusal of
20 Care”. (APP Vol. I at 238-241). Among the offenses identified only by reference

1 to policy numbers included 11.1.111 was “Dishonesty” for “falsifying
2 documents”. (APP Vol. I at 46, 142-143).

3 Following the termination of their employment based upon Songer’s
4 Report, Delucchi, Hollis and their Union took the case to arbitration. Following a
5 four (4) day arbitration, Arbitrator Catherine Harris, Esq. issued her Opinion and
6 Award in AAA Case No. 79 390 00124 12 on January 5, 2014. Arbitrator Harris
7 found that Delucchi and Hollis did not refuse care. Rather, they acted reasonably
8 by taking one (1) or two (2) minutes to establish that there was a safe working
9 environment as required by PVFRS protocols. (APP Vol. II at 279, 282).
10 Arbitrator Harris found that Delucchi and Hollis were never given an opportunity
11 to assess Mrs. Choyce or provide treatment “because her husband placed the car in
12 drive, spun the tires and sped off in response to the Grievants’ unsuccessful efforts
13 to calm him.” (APP Vol. II at 281, 286).

14 The Arbitrator likewise rejected Songer’s accusation of a “cover-up”
15 writing:

16 The allegation that the failure to file the report was part of a cover-up
17 only makes sense if you accept that the Grievants callously and with
18 reckless disregard for Mrs. Choyce’s well-being failed to render
19 emergency services. As explained herein, the arbitrator does not
20 accept this interpretation. To the contrary, the Grievants, when faced
with a challenging and novel situation for which they had received no
training, acted reasonably and used their best judgment in an effort to
secure the scene before approaching the female passenger. The
refusal of the male driver Choyce to calm down (or get out from
behind the wheel of a running vehicle) and his decision to speed

1 away from the scene were circumstances beyond the control of the
2 Grievants. Thus, the arbitrator rejects Songer's unsubstantiated
3 theory that the Grievants failed to report the incident in order to
4 conceal wrongdoing.

5 (APP Vol. II at 286).

6 The Arbitrator's Award further contained scathing criticism of Songer and
7 his Report. Arbitrator Harris found that Report contained "material
8 misrepresentations", and Songer documented his report to "falsely reflect" that a
9 recorded statement had been obtained from Brittnie Choyce. (APP Vol. II at 267-
10 268). The Arbitrator found that Songer's report "intentionally misrepresents that
11 Ms. Choyce's statement was recorded by Lieutenant Moody and that Mr. Choyce
12 was interviewed", and that the Report "covertly relies on hearsay statements" and
13 could "hardly be deemed a fair and objective report by a disinterested third party."

14 (APP Vol. II at 282).

15 Based upon the fact-finding contained within the Award, Delucchi and
16 Hollis initiated an action against Songer for Defamation and Intentional Infliction
17 of Emotional Distress ("IIED"). (APP Vol. I at 1-7). Songer filed a Special
18 Motion to Dismiss Pursuant To NRS 41.660 (hereafter the "Special Motion").
19 (APP Vol. I at 19-49).

20 The district court concluded that Songer's Report met the definition of a
"Good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to

1 free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern” within the
2 meaning of NRS 41.637 (2) and (3). (APP Vol. VII at 1514). Following an award
3 of \$21,707.50 in attorney’s fees to Songer pursuant to NRS 41.670 (APP Vol. VII
4 at 1642-1644), Delucchi’s and Hollis’ Complaint was dismissed.

5 **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

6 Songer’s Special Motion to Dismiss should have been denied. The purpose
7 of anti-SLAPP statutes such as NRS 41.635 through NRS 41.670 are to protect
8 citizens against retaliation for the good faith exercise of their U. S. Constitution,
9 First Amendment rights of free speech and to petition the government.

10 Respondent Pat Songer was not exercising his First Amendment right as a
11 citizen when he submitted his Report containing defamatory statements about
12 Raymond Delucchi and Tommy Hollis. Rather, that Report was prepared in
13 connection with his being hired, and paid, by the Town of Pahrump to conduct an
14 investigation. Accordingly, the Report does not meet the definition of a “Good
15 faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free
16 speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern” within the meaning
17 of NRS 41.637.

18 While the fact that Songer was not engaged in communications in
19 furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech should be outcome

20 ///

1 dispositive, in order to meet the definition of a “Good Faith communication” the
2 statements must also be “truthful” or “made without knowledge of its falsehood”.

3 An arbitrator, examining Songer’s investigation which resulted in the
4 termination of Delucchi and Hollis, found that Songer’s Report contained
5 “material misrepresentations”, and that he documented his report to “falsely
6 reflect” that a recorded statement had been obtained from Brittnie Choyce. (APP
7 Vol. II at 267-268). The arbitrator found that Songer’s report “intentionally
8 misrepresents that Ms. Choyce’s statement was recorded by Lieutenant Moody
9 and that Mr. Choyce was interviewed”, and that the Report “covertly relies on
10 hearsay statements” and could “hardly be deemed a fair and objective report by a
11 disinterested third party.” (APP Vol. II at 282).

12 Issue preclusion (formerly known as collateral estoppel) applies to
13 arbitration proceedings. The district court erred in refusing to afford Arbitrator
14 Harris’ findings issue preclusive effect. Because issue preclusion would prevent
15 Songer from re-litigating whether the statements within his Report were truthful
16 or made without knowledge of their falsehood, the district court erred in
17 concluding that Songer had met the threshold showing that he engaged in a “Good
18 faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free
19 speech...” within the meaning of NRS 41.637.

20 ///

1 Similarly, the district court erred in concluding that Delucchi and Hollis did
2 not meet their burden of establishing a probability of prevailing on their claim
3 under NRS 41.660(3)(b). While issue preclusion should prevent Songer from
4 contesting the claim, even in the absence of issue preclusion the transcripts of the
5 arbitration testimony attached to Delucchi and Hollis' Opposition to the Special
6 Motion to Dismiss was sufficient to demonstrate a probability of success under
7 NRS 41.660(3)(b).

8 **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

9 Arbitral awards may not be set aside by a court unless arbitrary and
10 capricious. *Clark County Education Association v. Clark County School District*,
11 122 Nev. 337, 131 P.3d 5 (2006). Issues of law are reviewed de novo. *Nevada*
12 *Service Employees Union/SEIU Local 1107 v. Orr*, 121 Nev. 675, 119 P.3d 1259
13 (2005).

14 **ARGUMENT**

15 Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute is intended to protect "well-meaning citizens
16 who petition [the] government and then find themselves hit with retaliatory suits".
17 *Johnson v. Douglas County School District*, 125 Nev. 746, 753, 219 P.3d 1276
18 (2009). The purpose of the anti-SLAPP is to protect "good-faith communications
19 in furtherance of the right to petition" it also provide immunity from liability for

20 ///

1 “those who petition all departments of the government for redress”. *Id.*; NRS
2 41.637. As emphasized by this Court:

3 More importantly, the anti-SLAPP statute only protects citizens who
4 petition the government from civil liability arising from *good-faith*
5 *communications to a government agency*. NRS 41.637. Thus,
6 Nevada’s anti-SLAPP statute is not an absolute bar against federal
7 substantive claims; rather, it bars claims from persons who seek to
8 abuse other citizens’ rights to petition their government, and it allows
9 meritorious claims against citizens who do not petition the
10 government in *good faith*.

11 *Id.* (emphasis in original). Thus, to fall within the protections of the statute in
12 2012 the communication must have been a “good faith communication in
13 furtherance of the right to petition”. 125 Nev. at 752.

14 At the time that Songer submitted his Report to the Town of Pahrump in
15 2012 resulting in the termination of the Appellants, NRS 41.637 only protected
16 the right to *petition* the government in good faith. After the Report was submitted,
17 and Appellants terminated, the statute was amended in 2013 to expand it to
18 include good faith “free speech in direct connection with an issue of public
19 concern”.² In its 2013 form the statute stated:

20 ///

² There was much argument before the district court as to whether the 2013 amendments should have been applied retroactively to a report which was published in 2012. However, as set forth below, the 2015 legislative amendments through the adoption of NRS 41.665 rendered this issue moot.

1 "Good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or
2 the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public
concern" means any:

3 1. Communication that is aimed at procuring any
4 governmental or electoral action, result or outcome;

5 2. Communication of information or a complaint to a
6 Legislator, officer or employee of the Federal Government,
7 this state or a political subdivision of this state, regarding a
8 matter reasonably of concern to the respective
9 governmental entity;

10 3. Written or oral statement made in direct connection
11 with an issue under consideration by a legislative,
12 executive or judicial body, or any other official proceeding
authorized by law; or

13 4. Communication made in direct connection with an
14 issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a
15 public forum, which is truthful or is made without
16 knowledge of its falsehood.

17 Under NRS 41.660 a moving party may file a "Special Motion to Dismiss".

18 The defendant bears the burden of demonstrating that the speech at issue
19 constituted "Good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or
20 the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern". NRS
41.660(3)(a).

If the court determines that the moving party has met the burden pursuant to
paragraph (3)(a), the court must then determine whether the plaintiff has
demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim.

1 The manner in which Special Motions to Dismiss are to be treated, and the
2 quantum of proof necessary in connection with such Motions, have been changed
3 by both the 2013 and 2015 amendments. As of 2012 when Songer submitted his
4 Report, the Motion was to be treated as a motion for summary judgment. *Johnson*
5 *v. Douglas County School Dist.*, 125 Nev. at 753. Accordingly, all of the evidence
6 must be viewed in a light most favorable to the Plaintiffs. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*,
7 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005).

8 Under the 2013 amendments, the summary judgment approach was
9 abandoned. The moving party was required to demonstrate that the speech fell
10 within NRS 41.637 by a preponderance of the evidence. If the moving party were
11 able to establish by preponderance of the evidence that the speech fell within the
12 statute, the plaintiff was required to establish “by clear and convincing evidence a
13 probability of prevailing on the claim”.

14 In the most recent 2015 legislative session, the statute was amended yet
15 again. The clear and convincing evidence standard was abandoned and NRS
16 41.665 was adopted which states at subsection (2):

17 When a plaintiff must demonstrate a probability of success of
18 prevailing on a claim pursuant to NRS 41.660, the Legislature intends
19 that in determining whether the plaintiff “has demonstrated with
20 prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim” the
 plaintiff must meet the same burden of proof that a plaintiff has been
 required to meet pursuant to California’s anti-Strategic Lawsuits
 Against Public Participation law as of June 8, 2015.

1 **I. COMMUNICATIONS UNDER A CONTRACT OF HIRE FALL**
2 **OUTSIDE THE PROTECTIONS OF NRS 41.637.**

3 It will not actually be necessary for this Court to decide whether the 2013
4 statutory amendments should be applied to statements made by Songer and his
5 2012 Report, or whether the 2015 statutory amendments should be applied. This is
6 because Songer's Report did not fall within the scope of NRS 41.637.

7 The protections of Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute are intended to protect
8 citizens in the exercise of their First Amendment right to "petition the
9 government" (under the statute as it existed prior to the 2013 amendment), or who
10 exercise their First Amendment right to "free speech in direct connection with an
11 issue of public concern" (under the 2013 amendment). Regardless as to which
12 version of the statute is applied, the speech must be made in the capacity as a
13 citizen exercising their constitutional right.

14 Songer is not entitled to the protections of Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute
15 because his communications were not in connection with his First Amendment
16 right to petition the government or free speech in a direct connection with an issue
17 of public concern. He was not acting as a "citizen" or seeking to have the Town of
18 Pahrump act on his behalf, or on behalf of another. Rather, he was hired and paid
19 by the Town to do a job. This falls outside of the protections of the anti-SLAPP
20 statutes.

1 Many states have anti-SLAPP statutes substantially similar to Nevada's.
2 The Massachusetts Supreme Court's decision under Massachusetts' anti-SLAPP
3 statute in *Kobrin v. Gastfriend*, 443 Mass. 327, 821 N.E.2d 60 (2005) is
4 illustrative and on point. In *Kobrin*, a psychiatrist was investigated in a
5 disciplinary action. In connection with that investigation an expert witness was
6 hired by the Board of Registration in Medicine to assist in the investigation and
7 render an expert opinion regarding the plaintiff's medical practices. 821 N.E.2d at
8 62.

9 Based upon a false affidavit submitted by the expert witness hired by the
10 Board, the Board summarily suspended the plaintiff's license. An administrative
11 law magistrate who later heard the evidence cleared the plaintiff. The plaintiff
12 subsequently filed suit against the defendant for expert witness
13 malpractice/negligence, defamation, malicious prosecution and interference with
14 contractual relations. *Id.* The defendant filed a special motion to dismiss under the
15 anti-SLAPP statute which was granted. *Id.* at 62-63.

16 The Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts *reversed*. The Supreme Court
17 recognized that the statute is "designed to protect overtures to the government by
18 parties petitioning in their status as the citizens. It is not intended to apply to those
19 performing services for the government as contractors." *Id.* at 64. The Court
20 concluded:

1 No definition of the phrase will encompass every case that falls within
2 the statute's reach, and some difficult factual situations will have to be
3 assessed on a case-by-case basis. What we seek to do is to limit the
4 statute's protection, in accordance with the legislative intent, to the
5 type of petitioning activity the Constitution envisions in which parties
6 petition their government as citizens, not as vendors of services.

7 821 N.E.2d 64 at fn 8.

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