## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RAYMOND DELUCCHI and TOMMY HOLLIS,

Appellants

v.

PAT SONGER,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No.: 68994 Electronically Filed Sep 23 2016 10:30 a.m. Tracle K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

## **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

LIPSON, NEILSON, COLE, SELTZER & GARIN, P.C. JOSEPH P. GARIN, ESQ. (Nevada Bar No. 6653) SIRIA L. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. (Nevada Bar No. 11981) 9900 Covington Cross Road, Suite 120 Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 (702) 382-1500 (Telephone) (702) 382-1512 (Facsimile)

Attorneys for Respondent Pat Songer

## Nev. R. App. P. 26.1 Disclosure

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

#### **Summary of Argument**

The district court properly followed the 2013 statute, the anti-SLAPP analysis, and should be affirmed. First, procedurally this appeal is improper as it did not arise from a final judgment, but a superfluous second order on the same issue.

Second, and more important, the district court followed Nevada law in conducting its anti-SLAPP analysis with guidance from California authority. Under the first step, the district court concluded the protected conduct, Songer's report, was indeed a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition and right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public

concern. The district court reached this conclusion, as this Court should, through anti-SLAPP analysis, statutory interpretation, legislative history review, and evaluating persuasive authority from California. The district court focused on the conduct, not the actor or the quality of the speech, which is the appropriate procedure and determined the report was protected conduct. As a result, the burden shifted to Appellants to prove by clear and convincing evidence they would prevail on their defamation and intentional infliction of emotional distress claims, which they failed to do. Even under a summary judgment or prima facie standard, Appellants would not prevail on their claims and this Court should affirm the ruling below.

#### Argument

# I. <u>This is an untimely second appeal on issues the district court ruled on in</u> 2014

Songer hereby incorporates his arguments in his motion to dismiss untimely appeal and rehearing of the same. Appellants opening brief shows that this appeal is an appeal from the district court's ruling on Songer's motion to dismiss ruled on in 2014 and for which the final judgment was entered in December 2014. The district court did not have jurisdiction to enter the order on September 15, 2015, due to the pending appeal in Case No. 67414. Even if it had jurisdiction, the order fails to change the position of the parties and is a repetitive, duplicative order which created procedural issues and delayed the proceedings. This Court should take the opportunity to remind district court's that superfluous orders will not be tolerated and dismiss the appeal based on a lack of jurisdiction and as an untimely second appeal.

# II. <u>This Court should affirm the district court because it properly analyzed</u> <u>and applied NRS § 41.660 in determining Songer's report constituted a</u> <u>good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition and right</u> <u>to free speech</u>

This appeal revolves around the 2013 anti-strategic lawsuit against public

participation ("SLAPP") statute immunity and its application to Songer's report.

Anti-SLAPP immunity applies when there is a "good faith communication in

furtherance of the right to petition or right to free speech in direct connection with

an issue of public concern." NRS § 41.637(2013). The statute defines a good faith

communication is as follows:

- 1. Communication that is aimed at procuring any governmental or electoral action, result or outcome;
- 2. Communication of information or a complaint to a Legislator, officer or employee of the Federal Government, this state or a political subdivision of this state, regarding a matter reasonably of concern to the respective governmental entity;
- 3. Written or oral statement made in direct connection with an issue under consideration by a legislative, executive or judicial body, or any other official proceeding authorized by law; or
- 4. Communication made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum, which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood.

NRS § 41.637(2013)(emphasis added).

The district court concluded Songer's report fell into both subsection 2 and 3

of the statute's definitions and that the report was drafted in good faith. JA Vol. VII at 1583. As a result of applying the plain meaning of the statute and following the anti-SLAPP analysis, the district court dismissed Appellants' complaint. JA Vol. VII at 1582-1585. This Court should follow the same analysis and affirm the district court's ruling.

# A. The district court properly applied the purposefully broad 2013 statute

In determining which statute applied, the restrictive 1997 version or the purposefully broad 2013 version, the district court had ample information and arrived that the conclusion to apply the 2013 statute. JA Vol. III at 1510:5-6.

First, there was the plain meaning of the statute to consider. "It is well settled in Nevada that words in a statute should be given their plain meaning unless this violates the spirit of the act." *McKay v. Bd. of Supervisors*, 102 Nev. 644, 648, 730 P.2d 438, 441 (1986). Second, a clarifying amendment, such as the 2013 amendment, "is persuasive evidence of what the Legislature intended by the first statute" which was to provide broad protection. *See In re Estate of Thomas*, 116 Nev. 492, 495 (2000)(citing *Sheriff v. Smith*, 91 Nev. 729, 734, (1975); *see also Pub. Emps. Benefits Program v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't*, 124 Nev. 138, 157 (2008)("when a statute's doubtful interpretation is made clear through subsequent legislation, we may consider the subsequent legislation persuasive evidence of what the Legislature originally intended"). Thus, the district court applied the amended 2013 statute, which clarified the former statute in order to give meaning to the legislative intent of broad protection to all Nevadans engaged in protected conduct. See, e.g. *State v. First Judicial Dist. Court in & for Storey Cmty.*, 53 Nev. 386, 2 P.2d 129 (1931).

# 1. <u>Nevada purposefully amended the statute to provide broad</u> protection to Nevadans

The Legislature's 2013 amendment was in direct response to the Ninth Circuit's interpretation that Nevada's anti-SLAPP laws provided limited protection to the public and a very narrow scope. *Metabolic Research, Inc. v.* Ferrell 693 F.3d 795, 799 (9th Cir. 2012); See Hearing on S.B. 286 Before the Senate Committee on Judiciary, 77th Leg. (Nev., March 28, 2013), JA Vol VI at 1315. In *Metabolic Research* the Ninth Circuit held that Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes were more in line with Oregon's narrow statutes, than with those of California, despite Nevada's SLAPP statutes being very similar to California's statutes and ultimately denied protection for free speech communication. 693 F.3d 795, 799 (9th Cir. 2012). Given the limited application that the Ninth Circuit read into Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes the year before, the Legislature purposefully undertook the 2013 amendments to clarify the statue to be in line with the original intent of offering broad protection for protected speech directly connected to matters of public concern. See Hearing on S.B. 286 Before the Senate Committee on Judiciary, 77th Leg. (Nev., March 28, 2013), JA Vol. VI at 1315. The

legislative history shows the 2013 Amendments passed unanimously, and because the prior statute was interpreted as too narrowly and was antiquated, which was not in line with the legislative intent in offering broad anti-SLAPP protection to the public for their exercising their First Amendment rights. *Id*.

Given the legislative history and the 2013 amendments' clarifying nature, the district court properly applied the 2013 statute and Appellants needed to show by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim, which they failed to do. NRS § 41.660(3)(b)(2013); JA Vol. VII at 1510:5-6, JA Vol. VII at 1583. As a result, this Court should affirm the lower court.

# B. The district court followed the anti-SLAPP analysis outlined in NRS § 41.660 and determined Songer's report was a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition and right to free speech in direct connection with a matter of public concern

Once the district court determined the 2013 version of the statute applied, it analyzed Songer's report in accordance with Nevada law and anti-SLAPP analysis and concluded Songer was entitled to anti-SLAPP protection and dismissed the lawsuit. This Court should affirm the district court.

#### 1. Nevada established a burden-shifting test on anti-SLAPP claims

The Legislature set up a burden-shifting test when a party claims the immunities of NRS § 41.650(2013). First, the Court must determine whether the conduct was based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern

as defined by Nevada law. NRS § 41.660(3)(a); NRS § 41.637(2013). Once the Court determines a good faith communication exists as defined in NRS § 41.637, then the burden shifts to plaintiff to prove by clear and convincing evidence a likelihood of prevailing on its claims. NRS § 41.660(3)(b)(2013).

By following Nevada law and deferring to California anti-SLAPP law, the district court recognized its obligation to first look at the protected conduct, the report, to determine if it was a good faith communication pursuant to the statute; not to determine the quality of the speech or the actor as Appellants argue. JA Vol. VII at 1514-1518. In doing so, the district court determined Songer acted in good faith and his communication to Pahrump was also in good faith. JA Vol. VII at 1518:10-16.

Thus, this Court should apply the same analysis and conclude Songer's report is a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition and right to free speech as defined in NRS § 41.637(2) and (3) in direct connection with a matter of public concern and affirm the district court's ruling.

2. <u>Nevada follows California's anti-SLAPP burden-shifting</u> <u>analysis requiring the court to first analyze the conduct to</u> <u>determine if the conduct is a good faith communication in</u> <u>furtherance of the right to petition and right to free speech</u>

Nevada's burden-shifting analysis is consistent with California's anti-SLAPP statute, which the Nevada Legislature made abundantly clear is what Nevada follows. *See*, NRS § 41.665(2015). Thus, it is no surprise that Nevada's anti-SLAPP laws mirror the California laws. NRS § 41.635 et seq. California

protects and defines an act in furtherance of a person's right of petition or free

speech under the United States as follows:

 any written or oral statement or writing made before a legislative, executive, or judicial proceeding, or any other official proceeding authorized by law,
any written or oral statement or writing made in connection with an issue under consideration or review by a legislative, executive, or judicial body, or any other official proceeding authorized by law,
any written or oral statement or writing made in a place open to the public or a public forum in connection with an issue of public interest, or
any other conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of petition or the constitutional right of free speech in connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest.

Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16(e).

In applying the California's anti-SLAPP laws, the courts undergo a parallel

two-prong test as Nevada courts. Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16(b); NRS §

41.660(3). Just like Nevada, the California Courts first determine whether the

defendant made a threshold showing the challenged cause of action arises out of

acts done in furtherance of the defendant's exercise of a right to petition or right to

free speech as defined in the statute. Id. The second step is determining whether

the plaintiff has demonstrated a probability of prevailing on the claim; Nevada's

2013 statute applied the higher standard of clear and convincing evidence. Id.;

Equilon Enterprises v. Consumer Cause, Inc., 29 Cal.4th 53, 67 (2002).

Again, like Nevada, once the defendant shows that the cause of action arose from a protected activity, it becomes the plaintiff's burden to establish that the acts are not protected by the First Amendment. *See*, *Navellier v. Sletten*, 29 Cal.4th 82, 94 (2002). "In opposing an anti-SLAPP motion, the plaintiff cannot rely on the allegations of the complaint, but must produce evidence that would be admissible at trial." *HMS Capital, Inc. v. Lawyers Title Co.*, 118 Cal. App. 4th 204, 212 (2d Dist. 2004); *Roberts v. Los Angeles County Bar Assn.*, 105 Cal. App. 4th 604, 617 (2d Dist. 2003) (Court stated that to demonstrate a probability of success, the plaintiff must adduce competent admissible evidence).

## a) Anti-SLAPP analysis focuses on the protected conduct, not the merits of the speech

California courts recognize that the first step is to determine if the conduct is protected, not the merits of the speech. "<u>Arguments about the merits of the</u> <u>claims are irrelevant to the first step of the anti-SLAPP analysis</u>." Coretronic Corp. v. Cozen O'Connor, 192 Cal. App. 4th 1381, 1388, 121 Cal. Rptr. 3d 254 (2d Dist. 2011) (emphasis added). California courts are also clear that a person may satisfy their burden to show that they were engaged in conduct in furtherance of their right of free speech under the anti-SLAPP statute even when the underlying conduct was allegedly unlawful or disfavored. See, e.g., Taus v. Loftus, 40 Cal. 4th 683, 706–07, 713, 727–729, 54 Cal. Rptr. 3d 775, 151 P.3d 1185 (2007) (defendants' investigation, including an interview that was allegedly fraudulently obtained, constituted protected activity under California's anti-SLAPP laws); Lieberman v. KCOP Television, Inc., 110 Cal. App. 4th 156, 165– 166, 1 Cal. Rptr. 3d 536 (2d Dist. 2003) (concluding that defendants' newsgathering, including the use of videotape recordings that were allegedly illegally obtained, constituted protected activity).

So long as the conduct falls into the statute's definition of a good faith communication, then the defendant meets his burden and the burden shifts to the plaintiff. California courts do not make judgments on the merits of the speech itself.

#### b) Anti-SLAPP analysis focuses on the conduct, not the actor

If the Court were to look past the protected conduct itself, the report, and to Songer's status as Appellants' suggest, then it would see that anti-SLAPP provisions do apply to contractors or private employees such as Songer. This is consistent with the first step of the analysis and focusing on the conduct, rather than on the actor.

In *Vargas v. City of Salinas*, the California Supreme Court reaffirmed that anti-SLAPP protections extend to government entities and public employees when citizens challenged the city's use its newsletter to inform citizens of potential program cuts should a controversial local measure be adopted. *Vargas v. City of Salinas*, 46 Cal. 4th 1, 16, 205 P.3d 207, 215 (2009), *citing cases*. The City of Salinas put information about a public hearing on the measure in its newsletter and citizens in favor of the measure sued the government accusing it of unlawful

campaigning by using the newsletter. *Id.* at 213. The government moved for anti-SLAPP protection and the citizens argued anti-SLAPP did not apply to the government. However, the California Supreme Court re-iterated its long stance that government agencies and employees are entitled to anti-SLAPP protection. *Id.* at 215.

Likewise, "government agencies and their representatives have First Amendment rights, and are "persons" entitled to protection under section 425.16, subdivision (b)." *Santa Barbara Cty. Coal. Against Auto. Subsidies v. Santa Barbara Cty. Ass'n of Governments*, 167 Cal. App. 4th 1229, 1237, 84 Cal. Rptr. 3d 714, 721 (2008), as modified on denial of reh'g (Nov. 5, 2008); see also *Vergos v. McNeal*, 146 Cal. App. 4th 1387, 1405, 53 Cal. Rptr. 3d 647, 661 (2007)(reversing denial of anti-SLAPP motion because anti-SLAPP did apply to government employee). In these matters, the California courts first looked to the protected conduct, not who was conducting the activity.

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